1992

# William J. Searles v. Dayna Communications, INC. : Brief of Appellant

Utah Court of Appeals

**JURISDICTION OF THE COURT**

Pursuant to the provisions of Section 78-2a-3(j) Utah Code Ann, the Court of Appeals has jurisdiction of any case transferred to it from the Utah Supreme Court.

**STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL**

1. The first issue is whether the Court erred in granting Dayna's motion for "directed verdict" for failure to establish a prima facie case. This case was not tried to a jury and therefore the motion although called a motion for a "directed verdict" was in reality, properly, a motion to dismiss under Rule 41 (b), Utah Rules of Civil Procedure, for failure to establish that upon the facts and the law, Searles was entitled to relief. The Trial Court also erred in finding Seales had not established a prima facia case of breach of contract. The Court further erred by

not making findings of fact and conclusions of law as required by said rule.

The standard of judicial review with regard to what constitutes a showing of a right to relief where no findings of fact are made is set forth in Davis v. Payne & Day, Inc. 10 Utah 2d 53, 348 P.2d 337 (1960) which states that the question on appeal is whether the Plaintiff's evidence, when considered in the light most favorable to him, showed that he was entitled to relief.

2. The second issue is whether or not the contract was a partial integration which requires parole evidence to show what the complete agreement in fact was. In the instant case, the quotas set forth in the contract anticipated that Dayna would provide in a timely manner, the new products from which increased revenues were to be derived, financial support for marketing and sales would be available when needed, and additional personnel to assist the sales effort would be provided as set forth in Dayna's budget. The projections which led to the quotas were based on such assumptions.

The standard of appellate review is set forth in Stanger v. Sentinel Sec. Life Ins. Co. 669 P.2d 1201 (Utah 1983) which holds at P. 1205,"

The doctrine of partial integration is that where a written contract is obviously not, or is shown not to be, the complete contract, parole evidence not inconsistent with the writing is admissible to show what the entire contract really was, by supplementing, as distinguished from contradicting, the writing. In such a case parole evidence to prove the part not reduced to writing is admissible, although it is not admissible as to the part reduced to writing.

3. The third issue is, if Searles established a prima facie case, can this court make and enter its own findings and award him the relief to which he is entitled.

The Court, in matters of equity, may review questions of both law and facts and can make findings of its own. Boals v. Boals 664 P.2d 1191 (Utah 1983).

#### **DETERMINATIVE CONSTITUTIONAL PROVISIONS, ETC.**

There are no Constitutional provisions, statutes, ordinances, rules and/or regulations which are determinative of the issues in this case.

#### **STATEMENT OF THE CASE**

This is an appeal from ruling of the trial court against the Plaintiff-Appellant William J. Searles (hereinafter Searles) and in favor of the Defendant-Appellee Dayna Communications, Inc. (hereinafter Dayna) which ruling granted Dayna's motion for a "directed verdict" made at the end of presentation of Searles evidence. Searles had entered into a written employment agreement with Dayna whereby he was employed as an Area Director of Sales. The agreement was for a term of one fiscal year, from October 1, 1988 to September 30, 1989. The agreement provided, inter alia, for the right of Dayna to terminate the agreement upon 90 days written notice to Searles or "for cause". Dayna terminated Searles employment effective February 28, 1989 by notice dated January 1,

1989 which notice did not state the reason for termination. Searles filed suit against Dayna claiming breach of the contract of employment by failure to give 90 days written notice, breach of the duty of good faith and fair dealing and alternatively that since notice was not properly given, that Searles was entitled to compensation until the end of the term of the agreement. Dayna answered the complaint claiming that Searles had been terminated for cause, for failure to meet the alleged quotas referred to in the agreement. After Searles had presented his case Dayna made a "motion for directed verdict" to the Court, which motion the court granted finding that Searles had not set forth a prima facie case of breach of the contract of employment.

#### **Statement of Facts**

1. Searles initially became employed by Dayna on or about August 12, 1988 as an Area Director of Sales (Tr. p. 77, L. 20). This employment was pursuant to a written employment agreement dated July 6, 1988. (Trial exhibit P-1; Brief ex. 1 attached hereto). This agreement included in paragraph 6 thereof a statement that the AD (Area Director) was assigned a quota for the remainder of Fiscal 1988 of \$550,000 to be derived from the AD's assigned territory. This sales volume was not reached. (Tr. P. 81, L.4 - 13) No employee of Dayna made his or her quota for fiscal 1988. (Tr. P. 81, L. 21-23)

2. The parties entered into a second written employment agreement, which agreement was not dated but was signed by both parties and was for a term of one year from October 1, 1988 to September 30, 1989, which term is coincident with Dayna's fiscal year (Tr. P. 80, L 6&7). (Trial ex. P-2; Brief ex. 2) One of Seales primary concerns in having a written agreement was to have the protection of a definite term of employment. (Tr. P. 80, L.1-7) Paragraph 6 of this agreement states:

6. QUOTA.

The Quota assigned to AD shall be as set forth for the term of this agreement:

Quarter 1, Fiscal 1989	\$1,000,000
Quarter 2, Fiscal 1989	<u>\$1,400,000</u>
First Six Months Quota	\$2,400,000

Quarter 3, Fiscal 1989	\$2,600,000
Quarter 4, Fiscal 1989	<u>\$3,800,000</u>
Annual Quota Fiscal 1989	\$8,800,000

The Quota is to be derived from the assigned Area.

Paragraph 7 thereof, states in part:

7. RESPONSIBILITIES OF AREA DIRECTOR.

. . .  
D. To fulfill the Quota requirements established pursuant to this Agreement.

3. These quota numbers were created from projections stated as goals during and prior to September 1988. These numbers are contained in the Dayna fiscal 1989 Budget dated September 20, 1988. (Trial ex. 3 - P; Brief ex.3) (Tr. P. 98, L11 - 21; P. 102, L.6 - L.12)

4. During Dayna's fourth quarter fiscal 1988, the primary product it had available to sell was a product known as

Daynafile. (Tr. P.21, L.12-25; Tr. P.82, L.14-25) The sales revenue from Daynafile averaged approximately \$500,000 per month during the relevant time period. (Tr. P.41, L.9-22)

5. Dayna had three new products in development line that it anticipated being able to sell: Daynanet, Daynatalk and Daynamail. (Tr. P.23, L.2-21) Dayna was not able to deliver these products until later than forecast in the budget. (Tr. P.94, L.14 - P.95, L.23; Tr. P.29, L.13 - P.30, L.9; P.99, L.5 - P.100, L.23; P. 111, L.113 - P. 112, L. 5) (See also second page of January daily report, which is 5th page of Brief ex. 6)

6. Anticipated revenues from these new products, which were six months or so late, were used to establish the quota requirements that were to be goals for the sales force to meet. (Tr. P.26, L.24 - P.27, L.2; P.70, L.22 - P.71, L.8)

7. The budget also relied on anticipated revenue from new and additional employees to be hired in the future, which employees were not hired. (Tr. P.27, L.3 - P.28, L.2; P.65, L.12-22; P.71, L.9-20; P.100, L.24 - P.102, L.21; P.88, L.12 - P.89, L.3; P. 112, L. 11 - P. 113, L. 10) (See also the third and fifteenth page of Trial Ex. 7, which two pages for convenience are attached hereto as Brief ex. 7)

8. The budget and therefore the projected revenues from anticipated product sales, anticipated there to be sufficient additional funding to enable Dayna to hire additional employees and fund additional advertising and marketing effort, which additional



funding was not provided as anticipated. (Tr. P.87, L.24 - P.89, L.4; P.94, L.3 - L.8)

9. Searles did not achieve the quota stated in his second employment agreement with Dayna. (Tr. P.68, L.17-20) Dayna, as a whole, did not come within 50 percent of the quotas stated in the budget. (Tr. P.69, L.18-22; P.74, L.11-17)

10. Although the quota figures were never achieved, Dayna's business was, on average, growing. (Tr. 44, L.10-15; P.45, L.16-17)

11. Dayna had published a company policy manual, (Trial Ex. 4-P; Brief ex.4) intended to govern the company's relationship with its employees. (Tr. P.50, L.1-3) Page GN109 states that a performance review will be given on each team member at the end of the 90 day probationary period and then yearly. Page GN114 states the company policy with regard to termination and in its second paragraph states:

"In the event of improper behavior or neglect of duties, the manager will counsel and work with the team member to improve the situation. Continued failure to meet company standards may be the cause of immediate suspension or termination."

(For economy, only page GN109 and GN114 of the policy manual are attached as Brief Exhibit 4) Dayna's Executive Vice-President, Brad Romney, testified that he did not know if anyone at Dayna "counseled" Searles with regard to his performance or if anyone "counseled" Searles in the context of improvement of performance to avoid termination. (Tr. P.54, L.9-23) Searles testified that he

never received a performance review or was counseled or contacted about unsatisfactory job performance. (Tr. P.104, L.2-18)

12. Searles was given a letter from Jim Waltz, Dayna's Vice President of Sales, entitled "Memo of Understanding re: Termination" under date of January 31, 1989. (Trial Exhibit 5-P; Brief Exhibit 5) The letter stated, inter alia, that Searles' last working day was January 27, 1989; that he would be paid through February 10, 1989; and that Waltz would give a favorable reference with regard to Searles past performance. There was no statement explaining the reason for the termination. Mr. Romney's testimony about the termination letter does not state any reason for the termination, he merely states that he knew and approved of the termination. (Tr. P.55, L.2 - P.55, L.15) Searles testified that at the time he was terminated, six to eight other Dayna employees in sales, engineering and software, were likewise terminated as a part of a layoff. Searles also stated that he listed "Layoff" as the reason for termination when he applied for unemployment compensation and that Dayna did not contest that statement. (Tr. P. 104, L. 19 - P. 107, L. 21)

13. Searles testified that he was paid commission on those amounts reported on the January daily report page of Brief Ex. 6 (attached hereto) in the "West - Searles section" and the "Softsell" section. (Tr. P. 107, L. 12 - P. 111, L. 5) He also testified pursuant thereto that his areas of responsibility accounted for 52.56% of the units of product sold and 46.13% of the

revenue derived therefrom for the month of January, 1989, the month in which he was terminated.

14. Searles testified that he and others knew that in the first quarter of fiscal 1989 it would be difficult to meet the quota numbers because sales of Dayna file had leveled off, but felt that with the new products, sales could be made that could make up the difference. He didn't get a chance to do so because he was terminated before the products were available for delivery. (Tr. P. 114, L. 1 - L. 18)

15. Searles was putting forth his best efforts while at Dayna but was limited by the one product nature of the company while he was there. (Tr. P. 115, L. 8 - 23)

16. Searles testified that during 1988, he earned \$22,891.00 in gross wages from Dayna. (Trial Ex. 8-P; Brief ex. 8) (Tr. P. 120, L. 14 - 20) He received gross pay of \$10,312.95, which included vacation pay of \$253.95 from Dayna in 1989. (Trial Ex. 9-P and 10-P; Brief ex. 9 and 10) (Tr. P. 120, L. 22 - P. 122, L. 25)

17. Before resting his case, Searles pointed out to the Court that testimony from both witnesses had raised a question as to whether the contract in question was a complete integration and that there were conditions precedent that both Dayna and Searles would expect to occur before it would be reasonable to expect the performance quotas to be met. Searles made a motion to amend the pleadings to conform to the evidence and cited cases in support thereof. The Court denied the motion, finding the contract to be

clear and unambiguous and that it contained an integration clause.  
(Tr. P. 126, L. 17 - P. 131, L. 10)

18. Dayna then made a motion for a directed verdict, which was argued and granted. (Tr. P. 131, L. 17 - P. 141, L. 8)  
The Courts reasons for granting said motion were that: there was a failure to produce evidence that Dayna violated any term of the contract; that the quotas were not met and that failure to meet quota was reason for summary termination of employment for cause; and that there was no good faith requirement for Dayna to provide product. (Tr. P. 141, L. 7 - P. 144, L. 5)

#### SUMMARY OF ARGUMENTS

POINT I THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN GRANTING A MOTION FOR "DIRECTED VERDICT" FOR THE PLAINTIFF'S FAILURE TO ESTABLISH A PRIMA FACIA CASE.

POINT II SEARLES ESTABLISHED A PRIMA FACIA CASE OF BREACH OF CONTRACT BY ESTABLISHING THAT A WRITTEN AGREEMENT WAS ENTERED INTO BETWEEN HIMSELF AND DAYNA, HIS DILIGENT PERFORMANCE OF HIS DUTIES UNDER SAID AGREEMENT, THE EXISTENCE OF CONDITIONS PRECEDENT BEFORE MEETING QUOTA GOALS WAS A REASONABLE EXPECTATION AND BREACH OF THE TERMINATION PROVISION CONTAINED IN SAID AGREEMENT.

POINT III THE EVIDENCE SHOWED THE WRITTEN AGREEMENT BETWEEN THE PARTIES TO BE A PARTIAL INTEGRATION AND THE COURT SHOULD HAVE FOUND THE EVIDENCE ADDUCED BY SEARLES AS PROVING THERE TO HAVE BEEN CONDITIONS PRECEDENT TO AN EXPECTATION THAT THE SALES DEPARTMENT WOULD MEET THE QUOTAS SUCH AS WERE STATED IN SEARLES' EMPLOYMENT AGREEMENT.

POINT IV THE EMPLOYMENT AGREEMENT IN QUESTION DOES NOT CONTAIN A CLEAR AND UNAMBIGUOUS RIGHT FOR THE EMPLOYER TO TERMINATE SEARLES FOR FAILURE TO FULFILL THE QUOTA REQUIREMENTS SET FORTH THEREIN.

POINT V DAYNA DID NOT DEAL WITH SEARLES IN GOOD FAITH IN ATTEMPTING TO CLAIM A TERMINATION FOR CAUSE.

**POINT VI** A CASE BROUGHT BY ROBERT BARRETT, ANOTHER DAYNA EMPLOYEE AND HEARD BEFORE THE THIRD DISTRICT COURT, THE HONORABLE DAVID S. YOUNG, PRESIDING, FOUND IN FAVOR OF BARRETT AS A DAYNA EMPLOYEE AND ESTABLISHING THE LAW OF THE CASE.

**POINT VII** WHERE NOTICE REQUIRED TO BE GIVEN BY AN AGREEMENT IS NOT GIVEN AS STATED, EFFECTIVELY NO NOTICE HAS BEEN GIVEN AND SEARLES HAVING NEVER BEEN GIVEN AN APPROPRIATE NOTICE OF TERMINATION UNDER HIS EMPLOYMENT AGREEMENT IS ENTITLED TO COMPENSATION FOR THE REMAINDER OF HIS TERM OF EMPLOYMENT.

**ARGUMENT**

**POINT I** THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN GRANTING A MOTION FOR "DIRECTED VERDICT" FOR THE PLAINTIFF'S FAILURE TO ESTABLISH A PRIMA FACIA CASE.

This case was tried to the Court in a bench trial and did not involve a jury, therefore, a motion for a "directed verdict" was not proper. The appropriate motion would have been motion to dismiss under Rule 41(b), Utah Rules of Civil Procedure for failure to establish that upon the facts and the law set forth, Searles was entitled to relief. The rule goes on to state that unless the Court in its order for dismissal otherwise specifies, a dismissal under the subdivision operates as an adjudication on the merits and in such event the Court is required to make findings as provided in Rule 52(a). These findings were not made and by reason thereof, Searles is entitled to have the evidence considered in the light most favorable to him. Davis v. Payne & Day, Inc., 10 Utah 2d 53, 348 P 2d 337 (1960) Cases from several other jurisdictions have held that where matters are tried to the Court, appropriate prejudgement motions are for dismissal rather than for a directed verdict. Frank v. Golden Valley Elec. Assoc., Inc. 784 P 2d 752

(Alaska 1988); Gapler v. Kocjancic 703 P 2d 660 (Colo App. 1985).

Utah does not appear to have issued an identical holding on the question.

**POINT II SEARLES ESTABLISHED A PRIMA FACIA CASE OF BREACH OF CONTRACT BY ESTABLISHING THAT A WRITTEN AGREEMENT WAS ENTERED INTO BETWEEN HIMSELF AND DAYNA, HIS DILIGENT PERFORMANCE OF HIS DUTIES UNDER SAID AGREEMENT, THE EXISTENCE OF CONDITIONS PRECEDENT BEFORE MEETING QUOTA GOALS WAS A REASONABLE EXPECTATION AND BREACH OF THE TERMINATION PROVISION CONTAINED IN SAID AGREEMENT.**

1. As stated in the foregoing recitation of facts, Dayna, at the time Searles became employed thereby, was a company which had, primarily, one product to sell, to wit, Daynafile, which product had been sold by Dayna for a year or two prior to his hiring on. This product had experienced relatively constant sales, yielding income to Dayna in the approximate amount of \$500,000.00 per month. At the time Searles became employed, Dayna was in the process of bringing three additional products to market, to wit, Daynanet, Daynafile, and Daynamail. None of these products was deliverable at the time Searles signed his second employment agreement which became effective October 1, 1988. Unchallenged testimony establishes that Dayna management had prepared a budget for fiscal year 1989 which projected revenues to be obtained from the sale of the new products and which contained projected revenues to be obtained from additional sales personnel. These projections were used to establish quotas that were goals for the company's sales department to shoot for and were in fact, nothing more than

goals. The employment agreement signed by Searles and Dayna when he initially came to work, which covered approximately the last six weeks of fiscal 1988, contained a quota provision. Paragraph six thereof, stated a quota of \$550,000., which quota, admittedly Searles did not make. There was no adverse comment amount his failure to make that quota. The second agreement contained in its paragraph six quotas assigned to the AD totaling \$8,800,000. for the term broken down by quarter, stating the quota for first quarter of \$1,000,000, second quarter of 1.4 million dollars for a first six months quota of 2.4 million dollars, a third quarter quota of 2.6 million, fourth quarter quota of 3.8 million, for an annual quota in the amount of 8.8 million dollars. As stated in uncontradicted testimony, it was anticipated that Dayna would make available to its sales department, additional personnel, and additional funding to be able to hire said personnel, as well as to be able to appropriately advertise and promote the new products. It was additionally anticipated that the new products that were in the development stage would be saleable and ready for delivery in a timely manner. In fact, said new products were delayed for various reasons for up to six months beyond the anticipated date that said products could be delivered to purchasers thereof. The company experienced a cash crunch and did not provide the funds with which to hire additional sales force personnel or with which to do additional and anticipated advertising and promotion of the new products.

2. Throughout the trial and during presentation of Searle's case, Dayna objected to the Court considering any evidence that might be used to contradict or vary the terms of the written agreement between the parties. The standard parol evidence rule does state that extraneous evidence may not be used to contradict or vary the terms of a written instrument. It has been said that the rule should not be applied with any such unreasoning rigidity as to defeat what may be shown to be the actual purpose and intent of the parties, but should be applied in the light of reason to serve the ends of justice. FMA Financial Corp. v. Hansen Dairy, Inc. 617 P 2d 327 (Utah 1980). This case goes on to state that the parol evidence rule does not prevent proof that a party did not perform an obligation which it was understood and agreed by the parties was a condition precedent to the contract becoming effective, citing

J & J Construction Co., Inc. v. Mayernik 241 Or. 537, 407 P 2d 625 (1965); Lewis v. Roper, 579 P 2d 434 (Wyo. 1978) and two other cases. The facts of this case make it clear that the sales department could not reasonably be expected to increase the company's sales volume by a factor of five without having new products to sell and a larger sales force to help sell them, all of which involved additional funding to pay for an increased sales force and appropriate advertising and promotion needed to successfully market the products.



**POINT III THE EVIDENCE SHOWED THE WRITTEN AGREEMENT  
BETWEEN THE PARTIES TO BE A PARTIAL  
INTEGRATION AND THE COURT SHOULD  
HAVE FOUND THE EVIDENCE ADDUCED BY SEARLES  
AS PROVING THERE TO HAVE BEEN CONDITIONS  
PRECEDENT TO AN EXPECTATION THAT THE  
SALES DEPARTMENT WOULD MEET THE QUOTAS  
SUCH AS WERE STATED IN SEARLES'  
EMPLOYMENT AGREEMENT.**

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