1992

William J. Searles v. Dayna Communications, INC : Brief of Appellee

Utah Court of Appeals

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

The trial court's reasons for granting Dayna's motion were stated in significant detail on the record. (See R. 396-9) The court subsequently entered its formal findings of fact and conclusions of law in its "Statement of Grounds for Directed Verdict." (R. 191-3, attached hereto as Appendix B) When a trial court has made findings and entered judgment thereon, it is the appellate court's duty to review the evidence in the light most favorable to the findings, which must be allowed to stand if reasonable minds could agree with them. Lawrence v. Bamberger Railroad Co., 3 Utah 2d 247, 282 P.2d 335 (1955); Child v. Hayward, 16 Utah 2d 351, 400 P.2d 758 (1965); Petty v. Gindy Mfg. Corp., 17 Utah 2d 32, 404 P.2d 30 (1965); Petrie v. General Contracting Co., 17 Utah 2d 408, 413 P.2d 600 (1966).

The findings of the trial court were well stated and supported by the evidence at trial.

Searles argues that this Court should review the evidence in a light most favorable to him. (Searles' Brief p.15) Searles argues that the standard of review set forth in Davis v. Payne & Day, Inc., 10 Utah 2d 53, 348 P.2d 337 (1960), should be applied because the trial court failed to make finding of fact as provided in Rule 52(a). As discussed above, however, the trial court did enter findings of fact both orally on the record and again in a formal document. The standard of review used by the Davis court, however, is applicable only where no findings have been entered by the trial court.

Involuntary dismissal under Rule 41(b) is appropriate either when the trial judge finds that the claimant has failed to make out a prima facie case or when the trial judge is not persuaded by the evidence presented by the claimant. Lemon v. Coates, 735 P.2d 58 (Utah 1987); Southern Title Guarantee Co. v. Bethers, 761 P.2d 951 (Utah Ct. App. 1988). The trial judge found that Searles had failed to make out a prima facie case. Even if Searles had presented a technically correct prima facie case, however, the trial judge clearly found the evidence unpersuasive.

Involuntary dismissal under Rule 41(b) is not limited to cases where the plaintiff has failed to present a prima facie case but is appropriate whenever the plaintiff fails to carry

his burden of persuasion. The Utah Supreme Court has explained the application of the Rule as follows:

When a court sitting without a jury has heard all of plaintiff's evidence, it is appropriate that the court shall then determine whether or not the plaintiff has convincingly shown a right to relief. It is not reasonable to require a judge, on motion to dismiss under Rule 41(b), to determine merely whether there is a prima facie case, such as in a jury trial should go to the jury, when there is no jury--to determine merely whether there is a prima facie case, sufficient for the consideration of a trier of the facts when he is himself the trier of the facts. To apply the jury trial practice to non-jury proceedings would be to erect a requirement compelling a defendant to put on his case and the court to spend the time and incur the public expense of hearing it if the plaintiff had, according to jury trial concepts, made "a case for the jury," even though the judge had concluded that on the whole of the plaintiff's evidence the plaintiff ought not to prevail. A plaintiff who has had full opportunity to put on his own case and has failed to convince the judge, as trier of the facts, of a right to relief, has no legal right under the due process clause of the Constitution, to hear the defendants' case, or to compel the court to hear it, merely because the plaintiff's case is a prima facie one in the jury trial sense of the term.

Johnson v. Bell, 666 P.2d 308, 311 (Utah 1983) (quoting Winegar v. Slim Olson, Inc., 122 Utah 487, 252 P.2d 205, 207 (1953)) (emphasis in original).

The record is clear that Dayna had grounds to terminate Searles' employment under the express terms of the contract. (Tr. Ex. 2, attached hereto as Appendix A) The

employment contract between the parties governs their relationship. "The beginning point of interpretation of a contract is an examination of the language used therein in accordance with the ordinary and usual meaning of the words." Pugh v. Stockdale & Co., 570 P.2d 1027, 1029 (Utah 1977).

Paragraph 7D of the contract between Dayna and Searles provides that Searles shall have the responsibility "[t]o fulfill the Quota requirements established pursuant to this Agreement." Paragraph 6 sets the quota for Searles for the first quarter of the 1989 fiscal year at \$1,000,000. Searles did not fulfill that quota obligation.

Paragraph 10 of the contract provides in pertinent part;

This Agreement shall terminate prior to the end of its Term . . . (iii) "for cause" which shall include, but not be limited to . . . any material breach of [Searles] obligations, covenants, agreements or warranties hereunder, or a failure by [Searles] to perform the duties assigned to [him] in an acceptable manner.

Searles testified that he did not meet his sales quota for fiscal 1988 or for fiscal 1989. (R. 336-7). Dayna, therefore, had grounds to terminate Searles "for cause" under the explicit terms of the agreement between the parties.

Pursuant to Rule 41(b), the trial court sitting as finder of the facts is entitled at the end of plaintiff's presentation of evidence to weigh that evidence, and if it is

found to be unbelievable or insufficient in some regard, to make a ruling on the merits of the evidence and dismiss the complaint. Johnson v. Bell, 666 P.2d 308, 311 (Utah 1983); Southern Title Guar. Co. v. Bethers, 761 P.2d 951 (Utah Ct. App. 1988). The trial court did, in fact, allow Searles to present his case, weighed that evidence and found the evidence insufficient to support a claim against Dayna.

In ruling on a motion for involuntary dismissal under Rule 41(b), the "court does not make any special inferences in the plaintiff's favor, instead, [the] court must examine and weigh all of the evidence." Henderson, 731 F. Supp. at 1378 (citing Ekanem v. Health & Hosp. Corp., 724 F.2d 563, 568 (7th Cir. 1983), cert. denied, 469 U.S. 821 (1984)). In the present case, however, the trial court considered the evidence in a light most favorable to Searles and still found the evidence insufficient. (R. 396)

C. The Dismissal of Searles' Case Is Well-Supported by Decisions Under the Parallel Federal Rule.

The involuntary dismissal of Searles' case against Dayna is well-supported by similar cases decided in the Federal courts under the parallel Federal Rules of Civil Procedure. In Dance v. Ripley, 776 F.2d 370 (1st Cir. 1985), the plaintiff, a black woman brought an action under Title VII against the head of the agency for which she worked claiming that she had been discriminated against because of her race. The plaintiff was

the only witness called for her case. After her testimony, the plaintiff rested. The defendant then moved for dismissal under Fed. R. Civ. P. 41(b), arguing that plaintiff had failed to establish a prima facie case, or, in the alternative, that plaintiff's case had been rebutted by evidence that defendant's actions were legitimate and nondiscriminatory.

The district court granted the motion to dismiss, issuing very brief findings of fact and conclusions of law under Rule 52(a) that plaintiff had not presented a case that she was rejected by reason of unlawful discrimination.

The plaintiff appealed, contending that the dismissal was based on a finding that she had not presented a prima facie case, and that she had presented a case. The First Circuit Court of Appeals affirmed finding that, although the district court's findings could have been clearer, it did not appear from them that the district court simply rejected plaintiff's prima facie case, but rather that the court had weighed plaintiff's case against uncontested evidence of a nondiscriminatory motive, and had found defendant's rebuttal decisive. The court concluded that, once the plaintiff had rested her case, a Rule 41(b) dismissal was appropriate.

In the present case, the trial court reviewed the evidence presented by Searles in support of his case and found that evidence insufficient. Although the trial court's findings could have been more detailed, the findings clearly support the

court's ruling. The findings are more than adequate to allow this Court to review the basis for the trial court's rulings.

The application of Rule 41(b) is well supported by other authority. See, e.g., Sepulveda v. Pacific Maritime Ass'n, 878 F.2d 1137, 1139 (9th Cir.), cert. denied, 110 S. Ct. 561 (1989) (an action tried to the court may be dismissed pursuant to Rule 41(b) when the district court considers the evidence presented and finds that the plaintiff has failed to establish a prima facie case); Feldman v. Pioneer Petroleum, Inc., 813 F.2d 296 (10th Cir.), cert. denied, 484 U.S. 954 (1987) (involuntary dismissal under Rule 41(b) was proper where plaintiffs had not proven the necessary elements of their case); Allres v. Amoco Production Co., 774 F.2d 409 (10th Cir. 1985) (district court had not abused its discretion in granting motion to dismiss under Rule 41(b)); Henderson v. United Parcel Service, Inc., 731 F. Supp. 1374 (S.D. Ind. 1990) (plaintiff failed to set forth direct evidence of discrimination in a Title VII action or establish a prima facie case that he was discriminated against on the basis of race).

II. The Trial Court Did Not Abuse its Discretion in Denying Searles' Motion to Amend the Pleadings to Conform to the Evidence.

At the conclusion of Searles' presentation of the evidence but before formally resting, Searles made a motion to amend the pleading to conform to the evidence. Searles claimed that the evidence had raised a question as to whether the

contract was a complete integration and suggested that there were conditions precedent to Dayna's ability to terminate Searles for failure to reach his sales quota. The court denied the motion finding the contract to be "clear and unambiguous." (R. 385). A motion to amend the pleadings falls within the sound discretion of the trial court and will not be overturned absent an abuse of discretion. Kelly v. Utah Power & Light, 746 P.2d 1189 (Utah Ct. App. 1987); Westley v. Farmer's Insurance Exchange, 663 P.2d 93 (Utah 1983).

A. Searles Failed to Present Any Admissible Evidence that the Written Agreement Was Subject to Conditions Precedent.

Amendment of the pleadings to conform to evidence presented at trial is governed by Rule 15(b) which in pertinent part provides as follows:

When issues not raised by the pleading are tried by express or implied consent of the parties, they shall be treated in all respects as if they had been raised in the pleadings. Such amendments of the pleadings as may be necessary to cause them to conform to the evidence and to raise these issues may be made upon motion of any party at any time

Utah R. Civ. P. 15(b) (emphasis supplied). Amendment of the pleadings to allege the existence of a condition precedent to enforcement of the contract by Dayna was inappropriate because Dayna did not expressly or impliedly consent to the trial of the issue.

In his own brief, Searles admits that "[t]hroughout the trial and during presentation of Searle's [sic] case, Dayna objected to the Court considering any evidence that might be used to contradict or vary the terms of the written agreement between the parties." (Searles' Brief p.18) Time and time again, Searles attempted to offer evidence that might vary the express terms of the written contract between Searles and Dayna. Counsel for Dayna consistently objected to the introduction of any evidence that would contradict or vary the terms of the agreement. Counsel for Searles insisted that the evidence was not offered to vary the terms of the agreement but only as foundation and as evidence of whether or not Dayna acted in good faith. The trial court admitted the evidence only for this limited purpose. (See, e.g., R. 35, 318-20, 338-9) After numerous objections from counsel for Dayna, and numerous assurances from counsel for Searles that the evidence was not being offered to vary the terms of the written agreement, the following exchange took place:

THE COURT: Let me tell you, I think a more fair way to proceed here is since you represent the plaintiff, the plaintiff has a burden of proof, the plaintiff collects its claims and throws out other alternative claims, that if at any time you're offering a piece of evidence to vary the terms of the agreement, then you need to tell us. How is that? Then we don't have to worry about adding these objections. Is that a fair way to proceed?

MR. PERKINS: Yes. I'll go with that.

MS. LEITH: I think that would be very helpful. Thank you, your Honor.

(R. 339) Searles did not identify or offer any evidence to vary the terms of the agreement. At the conclusion of his presentation of the evidence, Searles attempted to circumvent Dayna's objections and the court's rulings by moving to amend the pleadings to conform to the evidence. Because the evidence was never offered to vary the terms of the agreement, the issue was never tried and amendment under Rule 15(a) was inappropriate.

Searles cites Stanger v. Sentinel Sec. Life Ins. Co., 669 P.2d 1201 (Utah 1983) for the proposition that where a written contract is not the complete contract, parol evidence may be admitted. The Stanger court explained the doctrine of partial integration as follows:

The doctrine of partial integration is that where a written contract is obviously not, or is shown not to be, the complete contract, parol evidence not inconsistent with the writing is admissible to show what the entire contract really was, by supplementing, as distinguished from contradicting, the writing. In such a case parol evidence to prove the part not reduced to writing is admissible, although it is not admissible as to the part reduced to writing.

Stanger v. Sentinel Sec. Life Ins. Co., 669 P.2d 1201 (Utah 1983) (emphasis added). Thus, parol evidence may only be admitted under the partial integration doctrine if the evidence

is "not inconsistent with the writing." The doctrine is clearly inapplicable where, as in the present case, a party attempts to introduce parol evidence to contradict or vary the terms of a written agreement.

Searles had a full and fair opportunity to allege the terms and conditions of his agreement with Dayna. Searles failed to present any evidence for the purpose of contradicting or varying the terms of the written agreement. Finding the written agreement to be an integrated document, the trial court refused to admit contradictory parol evidence or to allow the pleadings to be amended to conform to this inadmissible evidence. The decision of the trial court to deny Searles' motion to amend was not an abuse of the court's discretion.

III. Searles Has Failed to Present Any Evidence That Shows His Entitlement to Relief.

In his "Statement of Issues on Appeal" contained in his brief, Searles appears to argue that the Court of Appeals should make and enter its own findings and award judgment in his favor. (Searles Brief p.7) This argument is completely without support in the body of the brief and is contrary to the appropriate standards of review identified above. Searles has, however, attempted to introduce evidence of a ruling in another case to establish the "law of the case" in the present action.

A. The Law of the Case Doctrine Is Inapplicable in the Present Case.

Searles makes the astounding claim that an unpublished decision in another case with different facts and different parties, tried to a different judge, somehow establishes the "law of the case" in the present case. Searles acknowledges that unpublished orders may not be cited as authority. (Searles' Brief p.25) Searles' argument appears to be nothing more than an attempt to circumvent the Court's prohibition on the citation of unpublished authority.

The law of the case doctrine has no application where two different cases are involved. That doctrine was recently explained by this Court:

The purpose of the law of the case doctrine is "to avoid the delays and difficulties that arise when one judge is presented with an issue identical to one which has already been passed upon by a coordinate judge in the same case." Sittner v. Big Horn Tar Sands & Oil, Inc., 692 P.2d 735, 736 (Utah 1984). Ordinarily, a judge cannot overrule the decision of another judge of the same court. Richardson v. Grand Cent. Corp., 572 P.2d 395, 397 (Utah 1977). However, "the ruling of one judge as to the sufficiency or effect of pleadings, does not prevent another division of the court from considering the same question of law if it is properly involved on a subsequent motion which presents the case in a different light." Id.

DeBry v. Valley Mortgage Co., 835 P.2d 1000, 1003 (Utah Ct. App. 1992) (emphasis added).

Thus, the law of the case doctrine has nothing to do with the present case. Searles' has presented a transcript of an oral ruling by another judge, in another case, on different facts, tried after the Searles case was decided. The unpublished transcript, therefore, has absolutely no precedential value and should be disregarded by this Court.